Procurement Practices for Partnering with Emerging Technology Providers

REPORT

October 28, 2020

ENTERPRISE TRANSPORTATION POOLED FUND STUDY TPF-5(359)

Prepared by: Athey Creek Consultants





Technical Report Documentation Page

		Technical Report Doc	umentation Page
1. Report No.	2. Government	3. Recipients Catalog No.	
ENT-2020-7	Accession No.		
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date	
Procurement Practices for	Partnering with Emerging	October 28, 2020	
Technology Providers		6. Performing Organization Co	de
7. Author(s)		8. Performing Organization Re	port No.
Ginny Crowson			
9. Performing Organization N	ame and Address	10. Project/Task/Work Unit No.	
Athey Creek Consultants			
2610 Lexington Terrace		11. Contract (C) or Grant (G) No	
West Linn, OR 97068		2019-0045	
12. Sponsoring Organization N	ame and Address	13. Type of Report and Period C	Covered
ENTERPRISE Pooled Fund Stu		Project Report, October 2019	to September 2020
Michigan DOT (Administerin	g State)	14. Sponsoring Agency Code	
PO Box 30050 Lansing, MI 48909			
15. Supplementary Notes			
Final Report available at: ent	erprise prog org		
16. Abstract			
	andiantians of nour processor		
	•••••••	nent practices, or traditional p providers. It includes informati	•
	••••••	to program managers explorin	•
		taff wanting information about	
	- ·	s report were selected for how t	
-		bers. The resources provide g	•
		amples of procurement training	
		ecific procurement to help arti	
identify prospective partners,	determine contracting proc	esses, and guide projects throug	h procurement when
partnering with emerging tec	hnology providers. Case stud	ies are presented in terms of the	e challenges that they
address, and key procuremen	nt practices are also highligh	ted. They include a variety of in	novative contracting
approaches and project speci	fic applications of different p	procurement processes.	
17. Key Words		18. Distribution Statement	
ENTERPRISE, contracting, pro technology, partners	ocurement, emerging	No restrictions	
19. Security Class (this	20. Security Class (this	21. No. of Pages	22. Price
report)	page)	28	
Unclassified	Unclassified		

Acknowledgements

This Procurement Practices for Partnering with Emerging Technology Providers report was prepared for the ENTERPRISE Transportation Pooled Fund TPF-5(359) program (<u>enterprise.prog.org</u>). The purpose of ENTERPRISE is to use the pooled resources of its North American members and the United States federal government to develop, evaluate, and deploy Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS).

Project Champion

Elise Feldpausch, Michigan Department of Transportation, was the ENTERPRISE Project Champion for this effort. The Project Champion serves as the overall lead for the project.

ENTERPRISE Members

The ENTERPRISE Board consists of a representative from each of the following member entities of the program.

- Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT)
- Iowa Department of Transportation (Iowa DOT)
- Kansas Department of Transportation (KDOT)
- Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT)
- Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT)
- Ontario Ministry of Transportation (MTO)
- Pennsylvania Department of Transportation (PennDOT)
- Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT)
- Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WisDOT)

Table of Contents

1.0	0 Introduction1
2.0	0 Procurement Challenges
3.0	0 Resources to Support Procurement5
	Guidance5
	Specialized6
	Training7
4.0	0 Case Studies of Partnering Success9
	MnDOT CAV Challenge10
	MnDOT Innovative Ideas11
	FDOT Procurement Framework
	Automated Bus Consortium13
	NYCDOT CV Pilot
	MnDOT Rural ICWS
	PennDOT ADS Grant
	MnDOT AIM Grant
5.0	0 Conclusion
	Program-Level Considerations
	Project-Level Considerations
Ap	opendix A: FDOT Project Development and Procurement Framework
Ap	opendix B: MnDOT Rural ICWS Design-Build Warranty Terms21
Ap	opendix C: MnDOT RFI for Regional Mobility as a Service Platform

1.0 Introduction

The transformational nature of intelligent transportation systems, or ITS, has always motivated private industry to develop innovative products and services that could potentially address transportation challenges. The rapid evolution of technology for communication, data, and automation has further accelerated the pace at which new products and services are emerging for transportation management and operations. Agencies continue to be interested in partnering with emerging technology providers to learn how transportation will change as a result of new technology and how it can be continuously improved by leveraging new technology for system management and operations.

Project Objective

To understand recent applications of new procurement practices, or traditional procurement practices applied in new ways, to partner with emerging technology providers. Transportation agency procurement practices have gradually evolved to support agencies in their desire to partner with private industry in the development and evaluation of new products and services. However, the prevalence of ever-changing business models and entirely new businesses continuously impacts how agencies apply their procurement practices to emerging technologies for transportation. The objective of this project is to understand recent applications of new procurement practices, or traditional procurement

practices applied in new ways, to partner with emerging technology providers.

Emerging technologies are defined for this project as products or services that relate to ITS, connected and automated vehicles (CAV), or mobility services. Products may include, for example, roadside units for vehicle to infrastructure (V2I) applications or specialty data for traffic operations. Services could be related to research and development, testing, installation, operation, or maintenance related to such products.

This report includes information that may be useful to project managers as they carry out individual projects, to program managers exploring ways to proactively engage industry, and to contracting and procurement staff wanting information about new and innovative practices. It is important to note that this report highlights resources and case studies intended for use as references. Case studies featuring alternative procurement practices are not presented within the context of individual state statutes regarding procurement. Program and project management staff are encouraged to discuss such practices with contracting and procurement staff to ensure viability within their statutory requirements.

Furthermore, there is no single best approach or correct way to procure emerging technologies as each project is unique in scope, schedule, budget, and a variety of other conditions. A key recommendation from this work is for program and project management staff to establish good working relationships with contracting and procurement staff so business goals for emerging technologies are familiar and unique project conditions can be understood. Each party provides valuable information and knowledge that when combined will determine the most effective procurement approaches.

Identifying the most effective procurement approaches requires the combined knowledge of program and project management staff with contracting and procurement staff so business goals for emerging technologies and unique project conditions can be understood. This report features procurement practices being used by agencies to partner with emerging technology providers in the following sections:

- 2.0 <u>Procurement Challenges</u>: ENTERPRISE members identified prominent challenges they are facing in their efforts to partner with emerging technology providers.
- 3.0 <u>Resources to Support Procurement</u>: In addition to the procurement innovation featured in the cases studies, this section highlights resources that offer insight on the foundational aspects of procurement.
- 4.0 <u>Case Studies of Partnering Success</u>: Summaries of successful strategies used to procure emerging technology partners are presented in this section.
- 5.0 <u>Conclusion</u>: Key takeaways for an agency to reference as they contemplate their next effort to partner with an emerging technology provider.

2.0 Procurement Challenges

Although procurement practices have evolved since the early days of ITS, there are still fundamental challenges with the requirements for and timing of competitively selecting partners for emerging technology projects. Often, these projects are fast-moving and involve an everchanging landscape of partners focused on areas such as infrastructure, vehicles, communication, artificial intelligence, security, and data. Each of these areas of technology have their own dynamics related to functions like product development, market demand, and business models, and often transportation is only one industry where these products and services are applied.

Just as procurement practices have changed over the past few decades, so have the challenges with procuring emerging technology. In the 1990s, many agencies and their staff had limited experience with contracting for what was then considered emerging technology. There were challenges with negotiating contract language around subjects like intellectual property and indemnification. As agencies gained experience with procurements such as road weather information systems, they were able to exchange lessons learned about contract areas including contract terms, scoping, and vendors.

Challenges in the early 2000s included operations and maintenance for emerging technology. Once an agency overcame barriers to selecting a partner to successfully demonstrate an emerging technology, it was often difficult for them to continue operating and maintaining the technology without the necessary knowledge, skills, and abilities. New contracting approaches arose for contractors to provide temporary or ongoing operations and maintenance support, as well as training for agency staff.

ENTERPRISE members were asked to identify what challenges have been most prominent in their recent work to partner with providers of emerging technology. Some of the challenges they cited are new, like unique funding situations surrounding the growing popularity of competitive grant opportunities. In contrast, other challenges are more persistent but with slightly newer twists. For example, approval processes have always taken a significant amount of time for review and leadership approval when subject matter is new and different. In more recent years, IT has taken a more prominent role in approval processes for work that involves software, produces data, or has network implications.

Challenges

Articulating agency needs Procurement after R&D Lengthy approval processes Application of contracting process Unique funding situations

• Articulating agency needs. It can be difficult for an agency to clearly articulate their needs when emerging technologies are altogether new, have not been used in a transportation setting, or simply have not been previously used by an agency. This can make it especially challenging to develop language for an RFP, evaluate proposals, negotiate contract terms, and manage performance to ensure the agency does ultimately get what it needs.

- Lengthy approvals. Several things can hamper an agency's ability to contract fast enough with emerging technology partners who are understandably looking for impactful opportunities to demonstrate their products and services. Funding approvals, contracting types, risk assessments, IT reviews, and fiscal year constraints are all examples of things that extend the contracting process.
- **Procurement after R&D.** Agency research and development efforts around emerging technologies are driven by the need to solve transportation problems. When such efforts lead to success, there is a natural desire to consider whether it can be operationalized. Although vendors for the research and development may be competitively selected, it can be difficult to transition to an operational stage without another procurement process. Additional challenges can be encountered when technology is developed in small quantities for research but needed in larger quantities and production level quality for operations.
- Application of contracting process. Low-bid or specifications-based procurements for emerging technology may not always be appropriate or reasonable given the often undefined nature of such technology. There are a variety of procurement processes used by agencies and one size does not fit all projects. Procurement staff rely on project managers to provide enough information about the scope of their anticipated project to help them find the process that best meets the agency needs. Similarly, project managers need a basic understanding the contracting processes to question how those processes apply to their projects. Without this balance between procurement and project management staff, contracting processes can be inconsistently or inappropriately applied.
- Unique funding situations. In 2015, Congress passed the Fixing America's Surface Transportation (FAST) Act to address federal surface transportation spending. Several competitive federal grant programs were established in FAST Act, including the <u>Advanced Transportation and Congestion</u> <u>Management Technologies Deployment</u> (ATCMTD) and <u>Automated Driving Systems</u> (ADS) grants administered by FHWA and the <u>Accelerating Innovative Mobility</u> (AIM) grant administered by Federal Transit Administration (FTA). As competitive grant funding becomes more prominent around emerging technologies, agencies are challenged with identifying partners for grant proposals and then contracting with them if awarded.

These challenges may be present in different ways depending on the emerging technology being procured, available partners and their work experience with transportation agencies, funding requirements, state procurement statues, agency practices and other variables. The next two sections present resources and case studies that may be used by project managers, agency programs, and contracting staff to mitigate these challenges.

3.0 Resources to Support Procurement

Some of the challenges identified by ENTERPRISE members can be addressed with resources that are intended to guide procurement more generally and emerging technology more specifically. These resources offer insight on the foundational aspects of procurement that project managers can reference to articulate agency needs, identify prospective partners, determine contracting processes, and guide projects through procurement.

Resources presented in this section are loosely grouped into three categories – guidance, specialized, and training. Those referenced under guidance are oriented toward steps and how-to for procurement. Resources in the specialized category have been developed specifically for the emerging technologies defined for this project – ITS, CAV, and mobility services. The training category includes examples of resources that have been used to educate project managers on procurement.



Guidance

One of the most important steps in any project is establishing a clear understanding of who is driving the need for the project, what is needed, where it is needed, why, and by when. Understanding these key details establishes a foundation for

managing all aspects of the project, including procurement. For emerging technology, the systems engineering process – especially the development of a concept of operations – supports the identification of these key details. In fact, <u>Systems Engineering for Intelligent Transportation Systems</u> includes guidance for procurement throughout the systems engineering process. It offers insight on procuring commercial off the shelf products, procurement timing, and key considerations for various procurement approaches. These points are further emphasized in the guidance resources highlighted in this section.

Sponsored by the Transportation Research Board, <u>NCHRP Report 560 Guide to Contracting ITS Projects</u> was developed to help project managers and procurement staff understand when traditional low-bid procurements may not be best and when alternative approaches may be needed for ITS procurements. The guide highlights best practices and recommends contracting strategies, along with contract types/terms/conditions for ITS projects at various stages of development, integration, system acceptance, warranty, maintenance, and upgrade. At the core of the guide is an 8-step decision model for defining the most appropriate procurement approach for a project. The model begins with initial decisions about the project type and ends with recommendations on contract scope and terms and conditions. Other steps in the model include considerations for work distribution, method of award, contract form and type, as well as factors related to staff experience and agency policy.

The guidance offered in NCHRP Report 560 is general in the sense that it does not identify how state statutes and rules also influence procurement options for emerging technology. The Missouri Department of Transportation (MoDOT) recognized the relevance of this and developed a state-specific guide based on the NCHRP report. <u>Best Practices in ITS Equipment Procurement</u> provides guidance within the context of applicable Missouri statutes and rules. This provides a comprehensive point of reference for project managers as they consider how funding sources also impact procurement options. The guidance also presents conditions around MoDOT's general and ITS procurement environment, planning and

programming associated with ITS, and implications for information technology (IT, or information systems, IS). Although the MoDOT and NCHRP guides were developed around ITS, they are also relevant to the procurement of emerging technologies more broadly.

There is a wide variety of products and services procured by transportation agencies. Procurement and contracting staff rely on the technical expertise of project managers to help them understand the products and services that must be procured. They also gain insight on popular topics from professional associations such as the National Association of State Procurement Officials (NASPO). The <u>NASPO Tech</u> <u>Next Series</u> offers insight on several topics related to emerging technology, including leasing vs. owning hardware/software, procuring unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) or drones, electric and hybrid vehicles, and the Internet of Things (IoT). NASPO is currently working on an edition of Tech Next featuring 5G procurement that is expected to be released in early 2021. The <u>Procuring UAVs</u> edition of Tech Next highlights public uses for UAVs, regulations, and procurement considerations. NASPO also has a <u>cooperative purchasing agreement for UAVs</u> that allows state agencies to procure UAVs from among 13 contractors. NASPO provides <u>an introduction to cooperative purchasing</u> and offers access to numerous such agreements through their ValuePoint program. Many states have authority to enter into cooperative purchasing agreements; however, agency contracting staff should be consulted to understand the parameters of each state's authority.

General procurement guidance resources are also often provided by agency contracting and procurement staff to offer project managers with foundational knowledge of procurement practices. The <u>MnDOT</u> <u>Professional/Technical Contract Training Guide</u> and <u>VDOT Manual for the Procurement and Management</u> of <u>Professional Services</u> offer an introduction to contracting. Establishing a well-defined scope of work is emphasized in both and guidance is provided to facilitate the process. Various selection methods and their parameters are presented, including, for example, when direct and competitive selections may be used. Further direction is offered on topics such as diversity goals, selection, audit and negotiations, and contract execution and closeout. Both guides offer an excellent overview of the contracting process to provide foundational knowledge and to emphasize the importance and value of engaging contracting staff to support the procurement process with their deeper knowledge and experience.



Specialized

Projects involving emerging technologies often lack specifications and standards to guide both project work and procurement. This can present unique challenges for articulating agency needs and developing a suitable scope of work for procurement. Resources

highlighted in this section are categorized as such because they provide specialized information about emerging technologies that have been developed from both collective and individual experiences as standards and specifications continue to evolve.

It is common for professionals to form groups around emerging technology topics to support peer exchange and learning. Such groups might include pooled fund programs, association committees, working groups or task forces. The Cooperative Automated Transportation (CAT) Coalition, for example, was formed to promote public and private sector engagement and peer exchange on connected and automated vehicles. The Coalition sponsored the Signal Phase and Timing (SPaT) Challenge in 2017, encouraging states to deploy SPaT broadcasts in at least one corridor or network (approximately 20

signalized intersections) by January 2020. The process of broadcasting SPaT messages, accompanied by MAP and location correction information, was not something agencies had significant experience with at the time. Several resources were developed by the group to support agencies, including a <u>SPaT</u> <u>Procurement Resource</u> that summarizes successful procurements from several agencies. Components procured, an overview of successful elements, lessons learned, and copies of the agency procurement documents are included for reference and use by other agencies.

In addition to the SPaT Challenge, the wider state of connected vehicle procurement is more broadly captured in <u>Connected Vehicle Procurement State of the Practice Assessment</u>. The assessment describes the state of the practice on connected vehicle technology procurement by transportation agencies, identifies lessons learned, and recommends actions to improve future procurement success. Much of the information reviewed for the project assessment focused on ITS with the notion of transferability to connected vehicles (and other emerging technologies). The assessment also captures specific case studies on connected vehicle procurements from Florida, Georgia, and Colorado. The details highlighted in these case studies provide useful reference points for other connected vehicle procurements. The assessment concludes that various procurement approaches have been successfully used to procure connected vehicle technology but there is no single best approach for agencies to use. As previously noted, it is essential to have basic knowledge of contracting principles and procurement approaches that have been successfully used, but working with agency procurement staff is strongly encouraged to leverage their deeper contracting knowledge and to determine which approaches are best for each project.

Additional specialized resources for mobility services are offered by the Shared Use Mobility Center (SUMC). The SUMC's <u>Shared-Use Mobility Toolkit</u> cites key policies that include recommended procurement practices. The toolkit recommends embedding specific requirements in solicitations to encourage the use of common technology platforms. For example, the Los Angeles Metro bikesharing RFP requested that the new service be compatible with the agency's existing transit card payment system. Public-private partnerships are also recommended to build first/last mile connections to transit. The toolkit suggests both formal and informal partnering opportunities ranging from joint marketing and awareness campaigns to linked mobile applications. Finally, data sharing requirements are also suggested as a way for agencies to assess impacts and integrate services into transportation plans. Agreements between San Francisco Metro Transit Authority and on-street carsharing operators are referenced as an example. In depth information about case studies featured in the toolkit are also available from the SUMC Learning Center by selecting "procurement" from the search by topic.



Training

In addition to the guidance and specialized resources already highlighted, this section presents examples of training available to project management staff on procurement. The Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) and the Texas

Department of Transportation (TxDOT) both offer structured training available on contracting processes for project managers. TxDOT <u>Training and Professional Development</u> offers a series of contracting courses that are available to employees and external partners (e.g. contractors, consultants). The online <u>training</u> <u>catalog</u> provides information on over a dozen courses covering topics such as general transportation contracting, negotiating, ethics, and best value and other contracting types. One course, Introduction to

Contracting with Private Entities (CTR108), guides participants through the fundamentals of processing contracts with private entities. It reviews basic principles of contract law, identifies common challenges with TxDOT contracts, and reviews the basic processes for developing a scope of work, fee structure and invoicing, work authorization, performance, and change management.

MnDOT offers similar contract training, which follows the Professional/Technical Contract Training Guide that was previously referenced in this section. The Professional/Technical Contracts Training Course is a 1.5 day interactive event covering the entire professional/technical contract process, including roles and responsibilities, contract programs, selection methods, scope writing, diversity goals, consultant selection, negotiations, and contract execution and close out. The training is offered periodically to capture new staff. In addition to offering training and guidance on contracting processes, MnDOT has also supported partnerships with private industry through targeted education and awareness activities. One such activity is the Understanding Both Sides of the Fences Project Manager Workshop, an eight-hour interactive curriculum designed around project management processes and relationship building. Developed in partnership with the American Council of Engineering Companies-Minnesota, the workshop emphasizes learning about public and private sector processes to build awareness and understanding. The awareness and workshop interaction are intended to build relationships between MnDOT and consultant companies to promote more efficient and successful projects.

The ITS Joint Program Office Professional Capacity Building Program also sponsors a course through the National Highway Institute that specifically addresses ITS procurement practices. <u>ITS Procurement</u> is a 3.5-hour web-based course that builds on systems engineering principles to present procurement processes and strategies for ITS. Although this course and the previously referenced guidance on ITS contracting, were designed around ITS as the central topic, their procurement principles are relevant to most emerging technology procurements.

The guidance, specialized, and training resources highlighted in this section may be used as-is in some cases, while other resources may serve as reference points for agencies to consider adapting for their own purposes. The resources represent a cross-section of general procurement and technology-specific procurement, all of which can help project managers articulate agency needs, identify prospective partners, determine contracting processes, and guide projects through procurement when partnering with emerging technology providers.

4.0 Case Studies of Partnering Success

In addition to the resources presented in the previous section, following is a series of case studies selected for how they have addressed the challenges identified by ENTERPRISE members. Each case study is presented in terms of the challenges that it addresses, and key procurement practices are also highlighted. Some case studies, like the MnDOT CAV Challenge, represent innovative contracting approaches that agencies have developed to address procurement related to emerging technologies. Other case studies feature specific projects, like the Automated Bus Consortium, where unique procurement approaches have been used. Table 1 provides an at-a-glance summary of the case studies presented according to the challenges addressed and with links to jump to the details for each.

	Procurement Challenges				
Case Studies	Articulate needs	Lengthy approvals	Procure after R&D	Contracting process	Unique funding
MnDOT CAV Challenge	•	•		•	
MnDOT Innovative Ideas	•	•		•	
<u>FDOT Procurement</u> <u>Framework</u>	•			•	
<u>Automated Bus</u> <u>Consortium</u>	•		•	•	
NYCDOT Connected Vehicle Pilot	•			•	•
MnDOT Rural ICWS	•		•		•
PennDOT ADS Grant	•				•
MnDOT AIM Grant	•				•

Table 1 Case Studies by Procurement Challenge

Challenges Addressed:	Articulate needs	Lengthy approvals	Contracting process
Description:	streamlined pr an open, rollin solutions that utilizing CAV to The <u>CAV Challe</u> tracks availabl	rocess for procuring Ca og procurement proces address areas of impo echnology to improve <u>enge RFP</u> also identifie	ate Procurement to develop a AV technology. The <u>CAV Challenge</u> is so that allows partners to propose ortance identified by MnDOT, such a safety and operations in work zone es prospective corridors and test escribes access to high-definition cates.
	requirements stage process. request a pre- project concep MnDOT. The n discussed with CAV Challenge and are review	for fair and open com The first stage is option proposal meeting with ot to be presented for meetings are considered other respondents to a is a full proposal. Pro- ved by MnDOT on a qui	tatutory changes and it meets petition. It is structured in a two- onal and allows potential partners to MNDOT staff. The meeting allows discussion and feedback from ed confidential and information is n the RFP. The second stage of the posals may be submitted at any tim parterly basis. Projects are awarded and available funding.
	has hosted 68 awarded 14 pr emerging tech for technology Although more needs are met significant. The solicitation more selection comp received five p or more propo prepared, one meetings were could have eas	pre-proposal meeting rojects. The process has nology in contrast to so that could become of time is typically sper t, time saved overall in ere have been 14 projo del each project wou mittees, and selection proposals, staff would osals. Under the CAV C selection committee e needed to review 32 sily taken several year roach allowed MnDOT	rough the summer of 2020, MnDOT is, received 39 full proposals, and as provided more immediate access spending time drafting specification utdated before issuing an RFP. It on negotiations to ensure MnDOT the procurement process is ects awarded to-date. In a tradition d have required separate RFPs, meetings. If each solicitation have had to spend time reviewing 7 challenge, one solicitation was was used, and only eight selection proposals. The traditional process s to complete while the CAV to complete procurement in
rocurement Highlights:	 ensured th Open, rolli submitted Two-stage feedback of Overall time 	nat business and procu ing procurement proce anytime. approach allows proson project concepts proson project with the procurement with	and the Office of State Procuremen arement needs were both addressed ess allows project ideas to be pective partners to receive MnDOT ior to developing a full proposal. ith emerging technology partners is ngoing solicitation, even though

MnDOT Innovative Ideas Contact: Cory Johnson, cor		ate.mn.us		
Challenges Addressed:	Articulate needs	Lengthy approvals	Contracting process	
Description:	mechanism for public and pri process for pa them in a fair	or soliciting new vate sector part artners to propo and competitive	ative Idea solicitation in the early 2000s as and innovative ITS project concepts from ners. The intent was to allow an open se their ideas and for MnDOT to select fro e way. The solicitation was developed wit ements for best value selection.	า om
	Proposals are sought to operationally test or demonstrate ITS technologies that address ITS development objectives identified in Minnesota's Statewide Regional ITS Architecture. The initial rounds o solicitation generated 20-30 proposals each time that had to be evaluated. MnDOT transitioned to a two-stage process to relieve the burden of proposal preparation on partners and proposal evaluation staff. The first stage is now a brief, 4-page proposal that defines what problems would be addressed by the project idea and explains the approach that would be used. Proposals are evaluated at the sole discretion of MnDOT without quantitative criteria. Shortlisted proposa are invited to submit full proposals in the second stage that expand t problem definition and approach and add a literature search, measur success, risk assessment, qualifications, and a quality management pl Proposals are then evaluated on a best value basis using weighted factor technical merit and cost.			
	issued severa Stage I projec	l other times an t proposals, of v	last issued in the spring of 2020. It has be d each round has produced an average of which typically 8-12 move into Stage II ntracts being awarded.	
Procurement Highlights:	 ideas with those idea Projects or value sele Two-stage 	n MnDOT and al as. leveloped withir ection.	and private partners to share their projec lows MnDOT to competitively select from n statutory requirements allow for best ess reduces burden on partners to prepare	ו

FDOT Procurement Fram Reference: <u>Exploring the N</u>		ement Framework for Expediting	g Florida Connected Vehicle
<u>Deployments</u>			
Challenges Addressed:	Articulate needs		Contracting process
Description:	The Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) conducted an evaluation of their procurement processes for suitability with connected vehicle deployments. The evaluation includes a scan of practices with FDOT projects and projects in several other states. Nine other states were surveyed about their procurement practices with connected vehicle deployments. Most indicated that their procurement process was similar to what has been used with other ITS projects. Those that reported differences noted specific challenges with needing additional time to develop requirements, obtain equipment, and learn about new interfaces. Lessons learned and best practices specific to connected vehicle deployments and procurement are highlighted in the evaluation for topics such as map data, component testing, FCC approval, and system security.		
	procurement reference. The deployments, communicatio need for secu framework de support and r vendors is sug ascertain thei the concept o in the procure deployment is typically prese	n culminates in the developmer framework which is included in e framework acknowledges sim as well as key differences aroun on between roadside infrastruct rity credential management for escribes how stages of the proje elate to procurement. For exam gested in the post-planning pha r capabilities. Knowledge gained f operations and requirements ement process. Although each co s unique, the framework illustra ent in every project and can be o is accounted for in the project of	Appendix A of this report for ilarities with ITS nd facets such as ture and vehicle and the that communication. The ect development process nple, exploring prospective ase to identify products and d from this effort can inform which are key elements used onnected vehicle ites activities that are used to ensure that
Procurement Highlights:	 support p information Unique as and secur and procu- Establishing incorpora avoid proj 	systems engineering during proj rocurement with scope and sch on about required products and spects of connected vehicle dep ity management, must be facto irement efforts. ng a common framework for pro tes typical procurement steps c ject delays caused by unanticipa ent activities.	edule details, as well as I services. Ioyment, such as map data red into project schedules oject development that ran ensure consistency and

Automated Bus Consortium

Reference: <u>ITS World Congress ALL-ACCESS, Automated Bus Consortium Program</u> and <u>Automated Bus</u> <u>Consortium</u>

Challenges Addressed:	Articulate needs	Procure after R&D	Contracting process	
Description:	The Automated Bus Consortion interest to test automated fur with automated small shuttles for automated full-size buses production. ABC has attracted with AECOM to engage indus feasible. That vision includes automated full-size buses that variety of environments and a	II-size buses in s and vendor f would be nece d 12 agency pa try and determ a cooperative p t will operate v	the wake of succ eedback that a si ssary for cost-eff rtners that have ine if their vision purchase of 75-10	essful tests zable order ective collaborated was 20 Level 4,
	A two-phased effort has been feasibility, pilot project scope vehicle charging strategy. The developing the procurement in 2021, each agency will mak procurement and deploymen through 2022 and service is s 2024. The consortium is allow purchasing power, share risk, each party knows about a top especially useful for developi industry input from over 50 b	s of work, spec second phase package while ce a go/no-go c t. Developmen cheduled to be ving member a and maximize bic that is evolv ng the bus spec	tifications, and ar began in 2020 w agencies secure f lecision to move t and testing will gin in late-2023 o gencies to combi learning. It is lev ing rapidly. This w cification, which a	n electric ith funding. Early forward with continue or early- ne their eraging what was
	The Michigan Department of cooperative purchasing effort Economic Development Corp Technology, Management an vendors and manage the bus procurements and is familiar federal funding. MDOT will co develop the solicitation, and development and manufactu agencies will then purchase d quantity of buses.	t. They are wor oration and the d Budget (DTM procurement. with unique re ollaborate with MDOT will con- ring of the bus	king with the Mid Michigan Depar B) to engage pro DTMB supports r quirements asso other ABC meml tract with the ver es. The other ABC	chigan tment of spective outine bus ciated with pers to ndor(s) for C member
Procurement Highlights:	 Consortium approach is of to develop specifications As the lead procurement relationship with DTMB a MDOT will execute a cont and manufacture buses a directly through that initi 	for the automa agency, MDOT nd previous bu tract with the s nd other agence	ated full-size buse is leveraging the s procurement e elected vendor(s	es. .ir xperience.) to develop

NYCDOT CV Pilot

Reference: <u>Connected Vehicle Pilot Deployment Program, Comprehensive Installation Plan – New York</u> <u>City</u>

Challenges Addressed:	Articulate needs		Contracting process	Unique funding
Description:	improve safet infrastructure order to mitig vehicle deploy 300 intersecti	City DOT (NYCDOT) connected y with the deployment of vehic applications that warn and ass ate crashes. The project is one yments in the country – with ro ons and after-market safety de one of three projects funded by yent Program.	cle to vehicle and ist drivers and po of the largest co adside units at n vices in more that	l vehicle to edestrians in nnected nore than an 8,000
	The Deployment Program required all three projects to follow the systems engineering process. The project scope was developed during a preliminary planning phase and solidified during concept development. From project requirements, design, and operations and maintenance planning, a comprehensive installation plan (CIP) was developed to guide the procurement process and equipment installation.			
	devices, equip with the proce of procureme regulations – bid (CSB), and Each is summa description of relation to the plan to engage submission of	rials in the plan summarizes the oment, and software to be acqu urement methods that will be u nt were identified within the pa request for expression of intere in-house purchases via master arized with their allowable requ the method. The plan also out e overall deployment schedule e prospective vendors. Finally, the federally-required tangible f a requirement unique to the f e project.	aired (and installe used. Three prime arameters of city est (RFEI), compe- agreement and uisition values ar lines procureme and includes an of the plan address property report	ed), along ary methods and state etitive sealed sole source. ad a nt timing in outreach es : (SF-428) –
Procurement Highlights:	 scope and Size and c guide prod Outlining of materia identified Time for p deployme CIP docum 	the systems engineering proce l identified what would need to omplexity of this deployment e curement. the type and quantities of equi als) allowed three distinct proce procurement was specifically fa ent schedule to ensure alignment nents submission of the tangible ent unique to the federal fundin	be procured with effort necessitate pment to be pur urement method ctored into the c nt with installation e property repor	thin it. ed a CIP to chased (bill ls to be overall on plans. rt (SF-428), a

Challenges Addressed:	Articulate needs	Procure after R&D		Unique funding		
Description:	MnDOT conducted several intersection conflict warning systems (I projects that culminated in a Rural ICWS project to deploy systems over 50 intersections throughout the state. MnDOT received \$1.45 federal funding from the Transportation Investment Generating Ec Recovery (TIGER) 2013 discretionary grant program.					
	Following the systems engineering process, a project plan and concept of operations were developed early in the project to identify the scope of the project, as well as how the project would be managed and funded. The project plan also outlined the contractor support that would be needed for the project and the procurement process that would be used to secure it.					
	complete the build approac period for the across three y contract speci optional warrs <u>Appendix B</u> . D operated and performed du	ent recognized that innovation ICWS design and construction h for the project. This also all systems based on the install ears dependent upon funding fied original warranty terms anty extensions. This section puring the initial 3-year warra maintained the systems. A w ring that period was compile DT insight on ongoing operation (nDOT.	n, so they opted to owed for a stage ations that were g availability. The and allowed for u of the contract is nty period, the co arranty summary d at the end of th	for a design- d warranty also spread e design-build up to two included in ontractor y of work he project and		
rocurement Highlights:	helped ideWarranty	an and concept of operations entify the design-build approa contract requirements allow nce of the systems with two o	ach for the projected for initial oper	ct. Tation and		

kopko@pa.gov	1	
Articulate needs		Unique funding
an Automated in 2019 to exp zones. Require compelled Per vision, goals a and challenge	rom USDOT s in work process by defining a e, the issues a where the	
of emerging to consulting firr contracting m with other go	echnology partners from other government ag ns, academic institutions, and private industry ethods were used, including intergovernment vernment agencies and universities, and task o	encies, A variety of al agreements
subrecipients used with the through Penn Project staff e determine the industry. In an standard cont	in the grant application. Reimbursement agree se partners, allowing the federal grant funds to DOT and on to the industry partner as work is engaged agency chief counsel and budget office best contracting method for partnering with nticipation of the grant funding, project staff sh cracting language with partners early in the gra	ements were b be passed completed. e staff to private pared
 required i Intergove academic Task orde firms. Reimburse 	n the grant application process. rnmental agreements with other government a institutions. rs from existing open-ended agreements with ement agreement with private industry partne	agencies and consulting rs.
	Articulate needs The Pennsylva an Automated in 2019 to exp zones. Requir compelled Pe vision, goals a and challenge project would schedule. The <u>PennDOT</u> of emerging to consulting firr contracting m with other go existing open Paid, private i subrecipients used with the through Penn Project staff e determine the industry. In an standard cont process to allo • Needs we required i • Intergove academic • Task orde firms. • Engaged a	Articulate needsThe Pennsylvania Department of Transportation (PennDOT) an Automated Driving Systems (ADS) Demonstration Grant f in 2019 to explore the safe integration of automated vehicle zones. Requirements for the competitive grant application p compelled PennDOT to articulate their needs for this effort I vision, goals and objectives, who their key partners would be and challenges that would be addressed, the geographic are project would take place, their technical approach, and a pro- schedule.The PennDOT grant application and subsequent project feat of emerging technology partners from other government ag consulting firms, academic institutions, and private industry. contracting methods were used, including intergovernmenta with other government agencies and universities, and task of existing open-ended agreements with consulting firms.Paid, private industry partners offered unique services and v subrecipients in the grant application. Reimbursement agree used with these partners, allowing the federal grant funds to through PennDOT and on to the industry partner as work is a Project staff engaged agency chief counsel and budget officed determine the best contracting method for partnering with pindustry. In anticipation of the grant funding, project staff sh standard contracting language with partners early in the gran process to allow time in advance for review.•Needs were articulated in project goals and technical ap required in the grant application process.•Intergovernmental agreements with other government a academic institutions.•Task orders from existing open-ended agreements with

MnDOT AIM Grant Contact: Elliott McFadden,	elliott.mcfadd	en@state.mn.us		
Challenges Addressed:	Articulate needs		Unique funding	
Description:	availability of support Accel support innow forward-think enhance the r AIM grant opp understand he	The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) announced in early availability of \$11 million in Public Transportation Innovation support Accelerating Innovative Mobility (AIM) grants. AIM is support innovation throughout the transit industry by prome forward-thinking approaches to improve transit system serv enhance the rider experience. In preparation for their respon AIM grant opportunity, MnDOT issued a request for informa understand how prospective partners could contribute to a mobility as a service (MaaS) platform.		
	MnDOT plann questions allo understand he procurement within the cor AIM grant in t constrain resp	<u>opendix C</u> , the RFI was used to share the appro- ted to propose in the grant application. A series wed the department to gather industry feedba ow the proposed approach would follow FTA g processes. This allowed prospective partners to ntext of their technology. MnDOT also did not i the RFI as they wanted to avoid having the func- ponses and they wanted information from resp heir approach regardless of the final funding sources	s of tailored ack and better uidelines for o respond dentify the ling source onses to be	
	The RFI process served as a validation step for MnDOT to ensure that it was both achievable and desirable. N RFI responses from companies in North America and E provided insight on prospective partners and how the contribute to the proposed approach. The RFI response companies that contacted MnDOT about the RFI also department build a distribution list of companies to no RFP is issued. MnDOT also believes the work that com respond to the RFI will result in higher quality propose	t it was both achievable and desirable. MnDOT from companies in North America and Europe th on prospective partners and how they could the proposed approach. The RFI respondents a at contacted MnDOT about the RFI also helped uild a distribution list of companies to notify w MnDOT also believes the work that companies	received 21 . Responses d potentially and other the hen a formal did to	
	will next issue platform. The significantly e been develop	warded an AIM grant in August 2020 and the c e an RFP for the services to develop a regional N RFI and grant writing process made drafting th asier as much of the scope and requirements h ed. This also saved time in the procurement pr he AIM grant requires MnDOT to implement the ar of award.	MaaS ne RFP nad already ocess which	
Procurement Highlights:	approachMnDOT w respondePreparing	led an opportunity for MnDOT to validate their for a regional MaaS platform as achievable and vas able to identify prospective partners from t nts and informal inquiries. the project approach for the grant application e when developing content for formal RFP.	d desirable. he formal RFI	

5.0 Conclusion

Agency procurement practices will continue to evolve and so will the role of emerging technology in transportation. The case studies and resources highlighted in this report were selected for how they addressed recent procurement challenges identified by ENTERPRISE members. The resources and case studies are intended to help project and program managers, as well as contracting and procurement staff procuring emerging technology for ITS, CAV, and mobility services.

The resources provided guidance on process, specialized information for specific technologies, and examples of procurement training. The resources represent a cross-section of general procurement and technology-specific procurement to help articulate agency needs, identify prospective partners, determine contracting processes, and guide projects through procurement when partnering with emerging technology providers. Case studies were presented in terms of the challenges that they address, and key procurement practices are also highlighted. They include a variety of innovative contracting approaches and project specific applications of different procurement processes.

Key findings from the resources and case studies featured in this report have been formed into both program and project level considerations for agencies as follows.

Program-Level Considerations

- Consider alternatives like the CAV Challenge and Innovative Ideas and initiate discussions with agency procurement and IT staff to understand how they may fit within your agency.
- Talk with contracting and procurement staff to identify existing or develop additional guidance and training, as needed, to address both foundational procurement knowledge and specific knowledge of procurement issues specifically related to emerging technologies.
- Consider meeting periodically with contracting and procurement staff to make them aware of work surrounding emerging technologies and to learn about changes in procurement processes.
- Communicate with contracting and procurement staff about needs in advance whenever possible to foster relationships and knowledge that will be useful when more urgent needs do arise.

Project-Level Considerations

- Contact agency procurement and contract management staff to explore what resources may be available to support foundational procurement knowledge. Such knowledge can be used to inform how scopes of work are developed for projects, to develop working knowledge of available procurement options when networking with prospective partners, and to create an understanding of the value vs. barriers that procurement offers.
- Develop clear project plans formal or informal to articulate who is driving the need for a project, what is needed, where it is needed, why, and by when. Then engage procurement staff to mutually determine what procurement options are best for the project.
- Large and complex projects like the NYCDOT Connected Vehicle Pilot Deployment project may benefit from a more detailed acquisition (and installation) plan.
- Network with peers within and outside agencies on related project experiences to help articulate agency needs and model, when applicable, similar procurement approaches.

 Maintain knowledge of prospective partners through information networks to know who is doing what, where, and with whom. This can help identify prospective partners and inform scopes of work when projects arise. Requests for information, when used judiciously, can serve as a similar resource when knowledge is lacking in a specific area.

The most prominent finding from this work is that identifying effective procurement approaches requires the combined knowledge of program and project management staff with contracting and procurement staff so business goals for emerging technologies and unique project conditions can be understood. That mutual understanding will lead to successful procurement and projects with emerging technology partners.

Appendix A: FDOT Project Development and Procurement Framework

Procurement elements highlighted in yellow.



Appendix B: MnDOT Rural ICWS Design-Build Warranty Terms

MnDOT Design-Build Program Federal Project No. HSIP 8813(091) Book 1 – Rural Intersection Conflict Warning System – Statewide S.P. 8816-1765

21 WARRANTIES

21.1 Warranties by Contractor

21.1.1 Project Warranties

Contractor warrants that:

- (a) all design Work furnished pursuant to the Contract Documents shall conform to all professional engineering principles generally accepted as standards of the industry;
- (b) the Project shall be free of defects (including design defects except to the extent that such defects are inherent in prescriptive specifications included in the Contract Documents, unless (i) Contractor has actual or constructive knowledge of such defects and (ii) Contractor fails to request a change thereto by MnDOT);
- (c) materials and equipment furnished under the Contract Documents shall be of good quality and, when installed, shall be new;
- (d) the Work shall meet all of the requirements of the Contract Documents;
- (e) the specifications and/or drawings selected or prepared for use during construction are appropriate for their intended use; and
- (f) the Project shall be fit for use for the intended function.
- (g) on a annual basis, the Contractor and MnDOT will conduct a meeting to review warranty logs and discuss warranty related issues.

21.1.2 Project Warranty Term

21.1.2.1 Original Warranty Terms

The Warranty term shall commence and end as follows:

Intersection Locations	Warranty Commencement Date	Lighting Warranty Termination Date	RICWS Warranty Termination Date (1)
Sites identified in Book 2, Section 1.3.2	MnDOT Acceptance of turn on test at each Site.	December 1, 2014	December 1, 2016
Additional Sites installed during the 2013 Calendar year	MnDOT Acceptance of turn on test at each Site.	December 1, 2014	December 1, 2016
Additional Sites installed during the 2014 Calendar Year	MnDOT Acceptance of turn on test at each Site.	December 1, 2015	December 1, 2016
Additional Sites installed during the 2015 Calendar Year	MnDOT Acceptance of turn on test at each Site.	December 1, 2016	December 1, 2016

Note (1): Subject to one-year extension per Section 21.2.

21.1.2.2 Optional Warranty Extension #1

Within 60 Days of the RICWS Warranty Termination Date identified in <u>Section 21,1,2,1</u>, MnDOT will notify the Contractor if it elects to extend the warranty on all RICWS systems an additional year to December 1, 2017. Payment for the warranty extension will be made at the price in <u>Exhibit L</u> (Item:

Conformed Contract Design-Build Contract MnDOT Design-Build Program Federal Project No. HSIP 8813(091)

Warranty Extension #1). Payment will be made within 30 Days of MnDOT's notification via a Unilateral Change Order per Section 13.

21.1.2.2 Optional Warranty Extension #2

If MnDOT extended the warranty per Section 21.1.2.2, MnDOT reserves the right to extend the warranty until December 1, 2018 at the price in Exhibit L (Item: Warranty Extension #2). Within 60 Days of the termination of Warranty Extension #1, MnDOT will notify the Contractor if it elects to extend the warranty until December 1, 2018. Payment for the warranty extension will be made at the price in Exhibit L (Item: Warranty Extension #2). Payment will be made within 30 Days of MnDOT's notification via a Unilateral Change Order per Section 13.

21.1.3 Additional Warranty Threshold Requirements

The warranty work is limited to the RICWS system and lighting per the allowable threshold limits identified in the table below. MnDOT will measure and quantify the performance of each RICWS and lighting system via feedback from MnDOT District staff, MnDOT Electrical Services, local roadway authorities, and state and local law enforcement agencies. Contractor may also monitor the Site using non-destructive testing for any Warranty Work required during the Warranty period. Contractor shall provide advance notification to MnDOT of all monitoring dates and times.

The warranted work shall include all materials, equipment, and installation that fail to perform or meet the Project requirements or standards.

During the Warranty period, Contractor will not be held responsible for distresses caused by identifiable factors (e.g. items damaged by others, vandalism, or "Acts of God") unrelated to materials and workmanship. Upon written request from Contractor and on a case-by-case basis, MnDOT will consider other factors that appear to be beyond the control of Contractor and may relieve Contractor from its Warranty obligations with respect thereto.

Condition Parameter	Threshold Limits	Recommended Action
Defect or malfunction that causes any RICWS system components to not function per the system requirements	Any Occurrence	Contractor shall determine the cause, repair or replace, and reinstall the unit. Repairs or replacements of ITS components will be accomplished in accordance with Book 2, Section 17.
Defect or malfunction that causes the lighting system components to not function per the system requirements	Any Occurrence	Contractor shall determine the cause of the malfunction onsite and repair or replace the unit. Repairs or replacements of ITS components will be accomplished in accordance with Book 2, Section 16.

21.1.4 Corrective Work

MnDOT will notify Contractor of any failure of any of the Work that is Contractor's, or any Subcontractor's, responsibility to correct under the terms of the Warranty. Contractor shall correct any areas which exceed the warranty threshold limits established for the Project. MnDOT may require corrective actions at any time within the Warranty period.

Conformed Contract Design-Build Contract For all corrective actions required, Contractor shall visit the site, determine the cause, and correct all warranty work within 72 hours of MnDOT's notification. If the warranty Work cannot be started then because of seasonal limitations, Contractor must so notify MnDOT and submit (for MnDOT approval) a schedule for completion of the corrective action Work.

If Contractor does not use its best efforts to proceed to effectuate that corrective action Work within the required time, MnDOT, after notice to Contractor, shall have the right to perform or have performed by third parties the necessary remedy, and the costs thereof shall be borne by Contractor. If MnDOT determines that emergency repairs are necessary for public safety, MnDOT may perform the corrective Work. Any such emergency repairs will be authorized by MnDOT's Project Manager, or his/her representative. Prior to making the emergency repairs, MnDOT will document the basis for the emergency action, and will preserve evidence, such as photographs or videotapes, of the defective condition. Emergency repairs that are covered by the Warranty Work shall be borne by Contractor.

If the warranty work requires closing any traffic lanes, the contractor shall obtain approval from MnDOT.

The Contractor shall replace any component that the Contractor has repaired or has failed more than once.

The contractor shall document in the warranty work performed in a warranty log. The log shall include the date of the corrective work, names of technicians performing the work, cause of the failure, testing performed, listing of parts repaired/replaced, and any other information related to corrective action taken. Contractor shall provide a copy of the warranty log to MnDOT within 72 hours of MnDOT's request.

21.1.5 Costs of Correction of Work

All costs of correcting Work, including additional testing of the system component, shall be deemed included in the Contract Price. Contractor shall reimburse MnDOT and pay MnDOT's expenses made necessary thereby within 30Days after Contractor's receipt of invoice therefore. Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining any required Governmental Approvals or other consents from any other Person in connection with the Warranty Work.

If a system is damaged by means beyond the Contractors control, if ordered by MnDOT, the Contractor shall make the system operational, with the repair cost paid by MnDOT in accordance with Book 1, Section 13.

21.1.6 Not used

21.1.7 Warranty Close-out

Between 30 and 90 Days prior to the RICWS Warranty termination date listed in Section 21.1.2.1, the Contractor shall conduct a turn-over test for each Site per Test Case 7 of the Test Plan (Book 2, Section 17, Exhibit 17-C). If the system does not pass this test, the Contractor shall continue to perform all necessary repairs and re-test per Test Case 7 until the system passes.

- (a) All components repaired or replaced shall meet the Contract requirements.
- (b) Repairs shall be made within 14 Days of the failed test unless otherwise agreed to by MnDOT.
- (c) No Liquidated Damage will be assessed for the test and one re-test. MnDOT will assess a monetary deduction of \$2,000/test for each subsequent re-test.

If MnDOT elects to extend the warranty per Section <u>21.1.2.2</u> and/or <u>21.1.2.3</u>, Contractor shall conduct turn-over tests per each Site in accordance with the criteria listed above. These tests shall be conducted between 30 and 90 days prior to each optional warranty termination date. Liquidated damages will also be assessed per forementioned requirements of this section.

Appendix C: MnDOT RFI for Regional Mobility as a Service Platform

State Contracts

Minnesota State Board of Investment 60 Empire Drive, Suite 355-3555 St. Paul, MN 55103

minn.sbi@state.mn.us

All proposals must be received at the address listed above on or before 3:00 P.M. Central Time on June 16, 2020. NO PROPOSALS RECEIVED AFTER THAT DATE AND TIME WILL BE CONSIDERED.

Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) Office of Transit and Active Transportation (OTAT) Request for Information (RFI) for Regional Mobility as a Service Platform

1.0 Description

1.1 The Office of Transit and Active Transportation (OTAT) in support of its Greater Minnesota Shared Mobility Program is seeking information on how an interested contractor could help build all or part of a Regional Mobility as a Service Platform (MaaS).

The purpose of this RFI is to solicit feedback from technology experts and other stakeholders on the building of a Regional MaaS. OTAT is exploring piloting a Regional MaaS in partnership with select Greater Minnesota transit agencies and private shared mobility service providers as a proof of concept to build a statewide platform. The MaaS platform would allow residents and visitors to plan trips, purchase and redeem fare/tickets, and receive real time updates on trip status on public transit and private sector shared mobility providers. In addition, vehicle routing, projected and real world trip data, and ridership information generated by this platform will be used to assist local, regional, and state planners and policymakers on transit service changes and public policy changes to improve service delivery and operational efficiency.

The Regional MaaS platform will cover up to six transit agencies with varying sizes and service levels from robust, regular fixed route service to completely on-demand trip delivery. Private sector providers on the platform may include the following services: intercity and regional commuter buses, microtransit, paratransit, health and human services transportation, taxi, TNCs, carshare, and microtransit (bike and scooter share.)

Components of the MaaS platform should include:

- 1. consumer facing trip planner, booking, trip status and account management application;
- management of data feeds and data transfer including GTFS, GTFS-RT, GTFS-Flex, and third party application APIs and SDKs;
- process to assist transit agencies and private bus providers in implementing and maintaining GTFS, GTFS-RT, and GTFS-Flex feeds;
- 4. e-ticketing system for transit agencies and private bus providers and accompanying SDK for MaaS platform; and
- data analysis and planning tool that will allow transit agencies, regional planners, and MnDOT to view historic ridership and trip trends by periods as short as hourly and model impact of change in service.
- 6. Optional component for this information request: On-demand/microtransit booking and dispatching software. All transit agencies with on-demand services in the initial Regional MaaS are expected to already have deployed dispatching software. This solution will be needed for agencies without existing software providers in a statewide MaaS build out.

OTAT is looking for solutions that incorporate recognized and developing industry standards (such as GTFS) wherever possible and support open sources of data wherever possible to allow ongoing innovation in mobility and to build MaaS features that can be used on other platforms. Solutions should be designed to be scalable to a statewide

(Cite 44 SR 1181)	Minnesota State Register, Monday 13 April 2020	Page 1181

deployment covering dozens of transit agencies of various sizes and service types.

1.2 THIS IS A REQUEST FOR INFORMATION (RFI) ONLY. This RFI is issued solely for information and planning purposes – it does not constitute a Request for Proposal (RFP) or a promise to issue an RFP in the future. This request for information does not commit the MnDOT OTAT to contract for any supply or service whatsoever. Further, the MnDOT OTAT is not at this time seeking proposals and will not accept unsolicited proposals. Responders are advised that the MnDOT OTAT will not pay for any information or administrative costs incurred in response to this RFI; all costs associated with responding to this RFI will be solely at the interested party's expense. Not responding to this RFI does not preclude participation in any future RFP, if any is issued. If a solicitation is released, it will be posted on the MnDOT Transit website and the Minnesota State Register. It is the responsibility of the potential offerors to monitor these sites for additional information pertaining to this requirement.

2.0 Background

2.1 Planned Production:

OTAT would work with selected vendor(s) to develop and implement a regional MaaS for a test period of at least one year after launch. With OTAT as the project lead, representatives from OTAT, participating transit agencies and private shared mobility providers, and selected vendor(s) will form a working group that will meet regularly throughout the project to ensure all participating entities have what they need and the project remains on schedule. Depending on the final project plan adopted by the working group, components of the MaaS may be developed and released in phases or all at one time. After initial release, the working group will continue to meet to address platform improvements, need for additional features, and the status of key performance indicators established at the beginning of the project.

2.2 Delivery Period:

Once project vendor(s) are selected, the goal of the project will be to deliver all components of the MaaS as outlined in Selection 1.1 in no later than 9 months. Components may be delivered separately earlier than this date.

2.3 Limitations:

Software solutions must use industry data standards (such as GTFS) instead of proprietary data standards wherever it is practical. Solutions should seek to be as open source and as interoperable as possible. Where open source is not possible, solutions should be developed to be interoperable with existing providers as part of a vendor's offering.

2.4 Security Requirements:

All solutions must protect the privacy of MaaS platform users and follow applicable state and federal privacy laws. Components of the system that pertain to financial transactions must be PCI compliant and remain so for the duration of project, including security upgrades as PCI guidelines change. With the exception of established open source data, each component of the MaaS platform must protect the data ownership rights of each transportation provider and allow the owners of this data to opt-in/opt-out of sharing data sets per agreed upon terms at the start of the pilot.

3.0 Requested Information

3.1 Category 1: Technology Solution:

- The MaaS could address a regional platform to allow transportation users the capability to interact with various providers, as described in Section 1.1. Are all of the technology options addressed? What limitations or needs were not addressed or should be included?
- 2. How can proposals account for providing the data standards or data sharing access it would need to access booking, vehicle route and location information, and dispatching information for consumer facing applications?

Page 1182 Minnesota State Register, Monday 13 April 2020 (Cite 44 SR 1182)

- 3. How can proposals account for protecting MaaS platform users financial and personal data in daily operational use? How can proposals address this privacy protection in data sets that are shared with local and agency planners for policy building analysis? How can proposals address the collection and analysis of data while complying with privacy laws and best practices while also conforming to state and federal freedom of information laws?
- 4. How can proposals account for obtaining and maintaining trip and ridership data from all the transportation service providers involved while protecting their rights to the data? How can proposals address needs for data access to be time limited based on either data sharing agreements or operational best practices? How can proposals address this collection and analysis of data sets while also conforming to state and federal freedom of information laws?
- 5. There is interest in making components of the MaaS platform (system data feeds, ticketing and dispatching software API and SDK, etc) as interoperable as is possible with not just the consumer facing MaaS app in this project but other platforms developed by public and private sector entities. What are the limitations and needs to allow this type of interoperability? What factors should a proposal address in the development and ongoing maintenance of such a system?
- 6. For public and private bus systems that have not yet implemented data standards like GTFS, how can proposals address the need for these systems to develop, deploy, and maintain data feeds using these standards to communicate with the MaaS platform?
- How can proposals take into account cost and benefit differences between using an established, existing MaaS platform versus a custom built white label platform?
- 8. For data analysis and planning tools, how can proposals address the need for data standards from other components of the platform? How can proposals incorporate the need for taking massive, often complex data sets from transit and bike share feeds, on-demand trip information from dispatching software, and search and booking information from the consumer app to display meaningful information for transportation planners to understand historic trends and model future service changes?
- 9. For transit systems with existing dispatching software, how can proposals address the need for interoperability with the consumer facing application and data analysis software? How can proposals incorporate data standards and a desire for the use of open source data to address the need for interoperability?
- 10. For transit systems that do not have dispatching software for on-demand services, how can proposals address the need for implementing such services including driver and dispatcher training, system booking rules, and interoperability on the MaaS platform?
- 11. Deploying a Regional MaaS requires developing a technology ecosystem that allows the free flow of information across many different software systems with many different functions. How can proposals address the need to manage this ecosystem and ensure all the parts are communicating as needed? How can proposals incorporate data standards and an open source approach to interoperability and what are benefits and limitations to such an approach? How can proposals address the need to establish and maintain a high quality of data between components and ensure data such as vehicle location, service schedule, and fare price remain accurate over time?
- 12. Do the proposed Regional MaaS description and background sections above provide sufficient information to inform proposals? If not, what additional information would be helpful?
- Category 2: Evaluation:
 - 1. How can MnDOT OTAT evaluate proposals on the basis of:
 - a. Inclusiveness?
 - b. Product feasibility?
 - c. Expected integration of Products?
 - d. Ability to deliver desired functionality within the project timeline?
 - e. Utility and function of the solution beyond the initial project timeline and to scale to a statewide platform?

(Cite 44 SR 1183)

Minnesota State Register, Monday 13 April 2020

Page 1183

- 2. What evaluation criteria are most important when considering how proposals can best achieve a regional MaaS platform?
 - Description of how residents and visitors can access and plan trips, purchase and redeem fare/tickets, and receive real time updates on trip status on public transit and private sector shared mobility providers
 - b. Demonstration of a realistic understanding of users and their unique needs
 - Demonstration of the technology needs and explaining how the team arrived at that determination
 of need
 - d. Determination of the potential cost and manufacturability
 - e. Thorough description of the user experience when the technology is implemented
 - f. Consideration of a range of needs and limitations, including users in a range of geographic contexts, and with and without access to a smartphone or bank account.
 - g. Other criteria

3.2 Customer reference for similar project cost

If available, the vendor should provide the contact information for customers for whom they have done a similar project awarded through competitive bidding. Vendors may reference price in their response only if this information is publicly available as part of a standard project pricing.

4.0 Responses

4.1 Interested parties are requested to respond to this RFI in written format. Responses may include answers to all of the questions in Section 3 or address any combination of information requested.

4.2 Written information regarding this request are <u>due no later than 11:59:59 CST, May 4, 2020</u>. Responses shall be limited to 10 pages and submitted via e-mail only to

Elliott McFadden, elliott.mcfadden@state.mn.us

If a responder submits information in response to this RFI that it believes to be trade secret materials, as defined by the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act, Minnesota Statutes §13.37, the responder must:

- Clearly mark all trade secret materials in its information at the time it is submitted;
- Include a statement justifying the trade secret designation for each item; and
- · Defend any action seeking release of the materials it believes to be trade secret, and indemnify and hold

harmless the state, its agents and employees, from any judgments or damages awarded against the state in favor of the party requesting the materials, and any and all costs connected with that defense. This indemnification survives MnDOT's award of a contract. In submitting an informational response to this RFI, the responder agrees that this indemnification survives as long as the trade secret materials are in possession of MnDOT. MnDOT is required to keep all the basic documents related to its contracts, including responses to RFPs, for a minimum of seven years.

Please be advised that all submissions become MnDOT OTAT property and will not be returned.

4.3. Responders shall provide administrative information, and shall include the following as a minimum:

4.3.1. Name, mailing address, phone number, and e-mail of designated point of contact.

4.3.2. Business type (large business, small business, woman-owned small business, veteran-owned small business, targeted-group business owned). Responders are cautioned, however, that this is a general description only.

Page 1184 Minnesota State Register, Monday 13 April 2020 (Cite 44 SR 1184)

5.0 Industry Discussions

Respondents are advised that MnDOT OTAT is under no obligation to acknowledge receipt of the information received or provide feedback to respondents with respect to any information submitted under this RFI. Responses to this RFI do not bind MnDOT OTAT to any further actions related to this topic. MnDOT OTAT representatives may or may not choose to meet with potential offerors. Such discussions would only be intended to get further clarification of potential capability to meet the requirements, especially any development and certification risks.

6.0 Questions

Questions regarding this RFI shall be submitted in writing by e-mail to the Elliott McFadden, elliott.mcfadden@ state.mn.us. Verbal questions will NOT be accepted. Questions will be answered by posting the question, verbatim and supplying responses to the MnDOT Transit website; accordingly, questions shall NOT contain proprietary or classified information. The MnDOT OTAT does not guarantee that questions received after May 1, 2020 be answered. To access the MnDOT OTAT website, go to http://www.dot.state.mn.us/transit.html.

7.0 Summary

THIS IS A REQUEST FOR INFORMATION (RFI) ONLY to identify information on how an interested contractor could help build all or part of a Regional Mobility as a Service Platform (MaaS). The information provided in the RFI is subject to change and is not binding on the MnDOT OTAT. The MnDOT OTAT has not made a commitment to procure any of the items discussed, and release of this RFI should not be construed as such a commitment or as authorization to incur cost for which reimbursement would be required or sought. All submissions become MnDOT OTAT property and will not be returned.

Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) Engineering Services Division Notices Regarding Professional/Technical (P/T) Contracting

P/T Contracting Opportunities: MnDOT is now placing additional public notices for P/T contract opportunities on the MnDOT's Consultant Services website. New public notices may be added to the website on a daily basis and be available for the time period as indicated within the public notice.

Taxpayers' Transportation Accountability Act (TTAA) Notices: MnDOT is posting notices as required by the TTAA on the MnDOT Consultant Services website.

MnDOT's Prequalification Program: MnDOT maintains a Pre-Qualification Program in order to streamline the process of contracting for highway related P/T services. Program information, application requirements, application forms and contact information can be found on MnDOT's Consultant Services website. Applications may be submitted at any time for this Program.

MnDOT Consultant Services website: www.dot.state.mn.us/consult

If you have any questions regarding this notice, or are having problems viewing the information on the Consultant Services website, please all the Consultant Services Help Line at 651-366-4611, Monday - Friday, 9:00am - 4:00pm.

(Cite 44 SR 1185)

Minnesota State Register, Monday 13 April 2020

Page 1185